
B- 1026 
Mt. Vernon Manufacturing Company Mill #3 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Mt. Vernon Manufacturing Company Mi l l #3 is one of the re-

gion's best preserved 19th century textile mill complexes , and 

is a dominant feature in the picturesque Baltimore mill village 

of Hampden. The imposing brick mill with its small ~ 

ancillary structures and nearby company store, ooarding nouse , 

and rows of company housing, remain much as they were a century 

ago . The main mill building (1853) is one of the city's oldest 

mills of brick (rather than stone) construction. The complex, 

along with neighboring Mt. Vernon Mill #1, served as the head­

quarters of the Mt . Vernon Manufacturing Company, which by the 

end of the 19th century owned a chain of mills and was tne 

nation's largest manufacturer of cotton duck and Hampden's major 

employer, dominating all aspects of village life. 
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B DESCRIPTION 

CONDITION CHECK ONE X CHECK ONE 

_QfllGINAL SITE 

-e - 1026 

_EXCELLENT 

XGOOD 

_ FAIR 

- DETERIORATED 

_ RUINS 

_UNALTERED 

kLTERED _MOVED DATE __ _ 

_ UNEXPOSED 

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Built in 1853, Mill #3 is the oldest of the remaining Mt. 
Vernon Manufacturing Company structures. The original section 
of tfie main mill was the first the company constructed to run 
off steam power rather than water power, and included the three 
story(plus Basement) structure at the western end of the present 
Building. This section is of brick construction 463 ft . long 
by 52 ft . 6 inches wide. Its walls are 38 inches thick at the 
base . At the western end is an addition which housed the boilers. 
This structure , 80 ft. by 51 ft.6 i nches, is of stone construction 
with a shed roof; it has been raised two stories since 1874. 
Attached to this addition is a small room , now covered by a 
porch, which served as a bl acksmith shop. At the eastern end 
of the main building· was a brick picker house of two stories 
which has since been integrated into a later addition. 

In 1874 the ground floor of the main bui l ding housed the 
machine shop, carpenter shop and the large steam engine which 
powered the entire factory. At the eastern end was the cloth 
office, where finished products were shipped . The picker house 
at this level was where cotton bales were opened and the cotton 
beaten. Because of the excessive dust created by this process, 
and the resul ting danger of fire., the picker house was separated 
from the rest of the main building by a firewall . The carding 
of the fibers took place on the second floor where the drawing 
and slubbing processes also put the initial twist into the thread. 
The third floor was occupied by the spinning department. Spun 
thread was also prepared for weaving here, before being sent 
down to the first floor . Warp beams were prepared and fabric 
woven on the f irst f loor where it was most convenient to the 
shipping department . 

The entire bui lding fo llowed the best principles of fire­
proof mill construction of its day. The floor system was sup­
ported on heavy 13-inch timbers supported at midline by nineteen 
cast iron columns . Flooring was 3-inch planks covered by 1~ inch 
tongue and groove. The r oof was supported by an unusual modified 
queen-post truss whose extraneous members point to the fact that 
truss principles were still poorly understood at this time. Many 
of these construction features can still be seen inside the mill, 
having been little altered. · 

Mt.Vernon Mill #3 was expanded in 1881 by a large addition 
at its eastern end, encompassing the old picker house and replac­
ing it with a new four-story picker house extending northward . 
During the 1870s several smaller buildings were added to the com­
plex incl uding a long-narrow two-story brick building on the north 
side and a smaller two-story structure next to it . These ouildin 
saw a variety of uses over the years and the larger one became th~ 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET 'IF NECESSARY ~~~fi0t~~iuiy~ch room in the 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Mount Vernon Manufacturing Company Mill #3 is one of the region's 
best preserved 19th century textile mill complexes, and is a domi­
nant structure in the picturesque Baltimore mill village of Hampden . 

. The imposing brick mill with its smal l er ancil l ary structures and 
nearby company store , boarding house, and rows of company housing, 
remain much as they were a century ago . Tlie 1853 main mill Building ;::. 
is one of the city's oldest mills of brick (rather than stone) con­
struction. The complex, along with its neighooring Mt.Vernon Mill #1, 
served as the headquarters for the Mount Vernon Manufactur ing Company , 
which by the end of the 19th century was the nation's largest manu­
facturer of cotton duck and Hampden's major employer, dominating al l 
~spects of village life. 

n istorical Background: 

The Baltimore textile industry had its origins in the rush of 
American entrepeneurs to fill a void created by the War of 181 2 and 
the national embargo of British goods which preceeded it. By 1810 
there were 87 cotton mills operating in the United States. Eleven 
of these were in or near Baltimore where the var ious streams emptying 
into the Chesapeake Bay offered the advantages of cheap water power 
close to equally inexpensive water transportation . A large number of 
these early factories were spinning mills which converted the raw 
cotton into yarn, as the weaving of fabrics for home use was .. still 
a widespread "cottage craft." The demand for ·cetton yarn expanded as 
it replaced the more expensive linen warp of colonial fabrics . 

The demand for yarn , and later woven cloth, in Baltimore came 
largely from the need of the local shipping and shipbuilding industries 
for sailclo.th ("duckm) . All American port cities had long relied on 
large amounts of linen duck, mostly supplied by Holland . About 1809, 
Seth Bemis of Watertown, Massachusettes began making duck from machine 
spun cotton, a thread capable of matching the strength of l inen . The 
new material was not accepted at first but the Embargo anq War of 1812 
made imported linen duck scarce or unavailable. In 1812-1813 one 
Baltimore firm sold $20,000 worth of Bemis cotton duck and another 
retailer sold $21,000 worth in 1815. 

(cont.) 
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B-1 026 
Mt. Vernon Manufacturing Company Mill #3 
Historical Significance, cont., page 2 

The first of Baltimore ' s businessmen to cap itali ze on these 
deve l opments were David Carroll and Horatio Gamorill. In 1832 
Carroll and Gambrill bought the mill of the Washington Manufac­
turing Company at Mt. Washington . Begun in 1810 , this early 
textile mil l most likely produced cotton warp yarn for home con­
suption; Gambrill and Carroll prooably used the output of this 
mill to supply weavers of sailcloth . By 1839 the advantages of 
integrating spinning and weaving in one mill using tfie newly 
perfected power looms had become apparent . Gamorill and Carroli, 
with other local investors, bought and conver ted the Whitehall 
f l our mill (on the site of the present Clipper Mill) to just such 
an operation with five power looms. In 1842 they converted 
another flour mill at Woodberry into a spinning mill, and in 
1847 added the Laure l Mill on the site of the present Mt . Vernon 
Mill #1 . Carroll and Gambri l l parted company in that year and 
the former started the Mt . Vernon Manufacturing Company in part­
nership with Wil l iam Kennedy and other inves tors. In 1853 the 
firm added a second mill, built on the hill up from the Laurel 
Mill, expanding the company ' s capacity to 10,000 spindles . This 
building would be called Mt.Vernon Mill #3 (and later, #2} 

On june 20 , 1873 Mt. Vernon #1 burned to the ground , causing 
a loss of $250,000. By the following September , however, a new 
and much larger structure had been erected on the same site, and 
in 1881 a large addition and a packing house had been added to 
the northern end . About this time Thomas Scharf in his history 
of Baltimore noted that the Mount Vernon Manufacturing Company 
Mi ll s #1 and #3 provided "cotton duck and felting, the latter 
being used in making paper," and gave employment "to a sufficient 
number of operatives to make up a village of 800 inhabitants." 
The total number of Jones Falls Valley workers employed by the 
company in its many mills, he noted, was about 1600. 

Several additions were made to the Mt . Vernon #3 complex 
between 1874 and 1904 , including storage houses, a new picker 
house, new wings to the main structure, an office building and 
a long building housing the machine shop and a large steam engine . 
Origina 

By the late 19th century the Mt . Vernon Company and the 
William Hooper Company in Woodberry held a near-monopoly on the 
domestic production of cotton duck . Baltimore became the world ' s 
leading provider of this type of textiles. As sailing vessels 
dissappeared from the shipping scene, other uses were being found 
for the sturdy cloth. During both World Wars the company did 
a booming business in supplying cloth for uniforms, knapsacks, 
tents and even parachutes. The Mount Vernon Company continued to 

(cont.) 



B- 1026 
Mt. Vernon Manufacturing Co. Mill #3 
Historical Significance, cont ., page 3 

expand , and added mill after mill throughout the 20th century , 
most in North and South Carolina. When these sites proved to 
be more profitable, operations in Baltimore tapered off. Tex­
tile production at the Mt. Vernon #3 compley ceased in 1973, 
and the company sold the buildings to Rockland Mill s , wliicn 
operates a modern textile plant farther up the Valley as well 
as plants around the world . The company is current l y using 
the mi ll #3 as an fabric outlet and for storage. 

The Mount Vernon compl ex of textile mills was developed 
a l ong the l ines of the so-called "Rhode Island System" which 
recruited and employed entire fami l ies as its labor force , 
provi d i ng housing and other soci al welfare arrangements for 
them. During the 1840s and SOs the company built several dozen 
stone duplex residential units on the hillside above the mill 
(called Stone Hill). When expans i on took place in 1873 and 1881 
several blocks of brick rowhouses were constructed to provide 
more housing (Brick Hill). The Mt. Vernon Company still owned 
several of these hGuses as late as 1973 . A company store, 
boarding house for single women, company-sponsored churches 
and social activities added to the community ' s sense of depen­
dence on the mills. This is reflected in the pages of the 
company magazine , "The Mt.Vernon-Woodberry News," in which 
village and company activities appear closely intertwined. 
Throughout the 19th and 20th centuries families from tJie rural 
South came to Hampden-Woodberry to work in the mil l s , and their 
descendants stil l comprise the majority of residents of these 
close-knit neighborhoods, even though the textile companies 
themselves have all but ceased operations and moved South. 

Although the textile industry is largely gone from the 
Jones Falls Valley, the many beautiful and sturdy stone and 
brick mills, such as Mt. Vernon #3 , built to house their opera­
tions remain . The Hampden-Woodberry area is a rare area where 
a l arge 19th century industrial village remains virtually un­
changed . 
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PHOENIX (MEICHANT 'S) SHOI' 'KWER (continued) 

oors and terminating on the second floor near the adjoining building· 
N dmped into a revolving drum heated by steam, the shot was tho Y 
dri It was then put into a revolving cask along with black 1 , and 
a high lish was produced. 

In the bui · g adjoining the toNer the sb:>t was roll an incline 
ive plates of French plate glass . perfect shot ran 

freely down thi incline, jurrping the spaces be the pl ates , while 
the inperlect sho slid slowly and fell be the plates , being collected 

ugh at the bottom. angle of this incline could 
be changed so that o certain sizes soot would reach the bottan. The 
perfect shot was then p through s · s of different sizes . In the ear~y 
days, these sieves, made o dr heepskin, were set in a irahogany ~g 
chest which shook the small t to the bottan; later, a rack of revol vi.ng 
perforated cone-shaped cyl · was used, the shot which had not fallen 
through the holes of o linder sing thus on to the next cylinder. 
The shot was then gain dam an · cline, this tirre made up of nahogany 
plates, and the re ting high grade s t weighed and sewn into bags for 
shiprrent. The t TOwer ' s capacity was 00,000 bags of 25 lbs in season, 
which could raised to 500 , 000 bags ann if necessary. No shot was 
manufact after 1892. In 1847 the ~chant' Shot Conpa.ny bought out 
PhV<:Jll.L.JW 

structure is a registered National Historic Lan1CIITIC:tl:K 

4. M)lN!' VERNON MILLS NO. l & j. g 
Falls R:2d at foot of Chestnut St., N. of Cedar Avenue 
Jones Falls Valley 

1873, 1879, 1881 

'lllis southernrrost mill carplex along the Falls was the last of the group to 
make the transition in 1973 from the manufacture of cloth to synthetic 
fabrics. The No. 1 Mill, directly facing Falls Road, is a three-stoi:y brick 
building, on stone foundation with towers at either end, which has been 
rendered som:what nondescript by the rerroval of all its tower winCbw fr~s 
and the bricking in of these openings , except for the several that survive 
near the entrance. Mill No. 2, of less architectural distinction, is 
located to the east, up Olestnut Street. 

The surrounding ancillary buildings include a small ~.ansard-roofed office 
building between the mills , south of which once was located the corporation 
store, further south, at the bend of Falls Road, is the cotton house where 
the bales were stored, characterized by small, iron-shuttered windc:Ms (so 
designed to shut off the air suppl y in the event of fire). Just southwest 
of Mill No. 1, across the road from the cotton muse, is a striking pair of 
brick gable-roofed ootton or picker houses (where bales were broken, and 
inpurities rerroved before the corrpressed cotton, in the foDn of laps, was 
transferred to the carding machines) bearing massive datestones 1873 and 
1879. To the east of these, on the south face of the mill's stairtower, 
is a large narce and date tablet. 



j 
4. MXJNT VERNON MILIS NO. 1 & f (continued) 

In 187 4, the mill oonplex was described in a fire insurance r eport as 
follCMS . The basenent of the original building oontained the cloth office 
arrl the engine room, which housed a steam engine with fly wheel rising 
above the first floor. The first floor oontained the belt driven carding, 
drawing, slubbing (the process of slightly twisting cotton fibers onto 
bobbins for weaving) and speeding rrachines . Weaving, beaming (placing warp 
spools onto large rollers that were placed in a loom) and warping were oone 
on the seoond floor, while spinn.ing, spooling and twisting rrachines were 
located on the third floor. The building was wamed by steam and lit by 
gasoline larrps. 

Perhaps the rrost outstanding elenent of the cx:mplex today, is the enclave 
of stone duplex corporation houses on the bank above, kn:Mn as "Stone Hill", 
built between c . 1845 (the date of the first mill on the site) and 1877. 
These houses , constructed of granite fJ:an the Lake Roland section of the 
valley, exhibit Greek Revival characteristics (in rrassing, use of attic 
windows, etc.) . In plan, roan follCMs room with divided one story gabl e 
roofed rear wings serving as kitdlens to each pair of rouses . Also note­
worthy is the rrassive stone Superintendent's House, which overlooks Mill 
No. 1. A later grouping of tenerrents , kncMn as Brick Hill , overlooks 
Mill No. 2. 
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